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Sebastiano de Filippi


“The truth is always strange, stranger than invention.”
George Gordon Byron (1788-1824)




 Biographical background of a unique ufological guru. : The first esoteric readings  


 The protagonist of our research is the third son of Euripides Crispín Acoglanis, a Greek citizen and native of Thessaloniki, who immigrated to Rosario, in the Argentine Republic. Ángel Cristo Acoglanis was born on December 25th, 1924, by singular coincidence on the same day as the famous esoteric Peruvian esoteric authorwriter, Carlos Castaneda. The Christian faith of Ángel’stheir parents - —his father was Greek orthodoxOrthodox father, his mother Catholiccatholic mother - and—as well as his birth on Christmas Day determined the biblical origin of his first given names and, both of which were , in both cases, of Hellenic origin: ÁngelAngel, derived derives from the Greek aggelos, which meaning means messenger (often divine); ), while Christ Cristo, derivess naturally from christos, which and means “anointed”, in the sense of “chosen” as a messiah messiah (priestly or royal). The fact that his hometown birthplace was called Rosario gave imposed the whole the last final touch of religiosity..

      Between 1933 and 1940, Ángel Cristo Acoglanis attended areceived his compulsory schooleducation - —in Argentina, seven years of primary school - —in at a one state establishment institution among the many in his the city. This was his first and last experience in of a institutional formal education. Since In 1940, at the age of fourteen years of age, the boy had to abandon his studies to help materially his family financially. Two years later, and before he was of reaching a legal age, Ángel, wishing for complete independence, Angel left Crispínin’s house: the young man  wanted to become completely independent and had with the idea of   entering the world of work full-time work force.	Comment by Author: Why not Euripides’?

     At By twenty-one years of age, Acoglanis was a versatile laborer. He worked with enthusiasm, but with a lot of discontinuity; . HisThese first jobs as an adult worker took him to other cities near Rosario, such as Venado Tuerto and Pergamino, but not much further. In 1950, Teófilo, one of Ángel Cristo'shis brothers, Teófilo, introduced him to a local girl, Zulema Serra, who was five years younger than Angelhis junior. Acoglanis hadPossessed of a certain charisma, Ángel waswas  an affable person and possessedwith an apparent gift for healing (apparently seemingly inherited from his father) that made him attractive. Zulema agreed to be his girlfriend and married him in  1952 she married him. Both lived under the same and modest roof in Ramallo. Soon the two sons arrived, both born in the small town: Miguel Ángel, in 1953, and Oscar Alberto, in 1958. The boys grew up in a context of miserypoverty, in whichand Zulema had to work miracles not to make them miss the breadto get bread on the table. AngelÁngel, for his part, did not seem too interested in family life: ; his often wife and children often did not see him for days, —sometimes for work reasons, sometimes for no apparent reason at all.  	Comment by Author: Perhaps: “but changed jobs often.”

     In the '60s 1960s, ÁngelAngel began to developing an interest in esotericism. This interest could be attributedmay have been due to contact with a Rosicrucian Rosicrucian Rosicrucian group, although it is not because during this period nobody ever saw AngelÁngel with a book in his hand. But tThere was a one book that Ángel Acoglanis did read, however,, and that which changed his perception of things forever. At some point, Someone someone lent him a copy of The Coming Race (1871) , by the English politician Edward Bulwer-Lytton, a leading Rosicrucian writer. That The work book made him knointroduced w Ángel to the theory of the hollow earth, —the idea idea that of an advanced people living resided under beneath the earth’s crust, and as well as to the concept of Vril energy; . especially tThe latter will besecond of these notions was taken up again by several other authors,  and was being of particular importance the to Nazis or and neo-Nazis.   	Comment by Author: Unclear – do you mean “but in this period, no one ever saw him with a book in his hand.”

     Like Paul Éluard, Acoglanis claimedconcluded that, as Paul Éluard said, there are were other worlds, but that they are existed in oursour own. He also learned that the Theosophists Helena Blavatksy, William Scott-Elliot, and Rudolf Steiner claimed believed that Bulwer-Lytton’s the story of Bulwer-Lytton corresponded to with the truth. FinallyMoreover, in the German sphere (and the Nazi one, in particular), there was talk of a Vril Society. and Indeed, “Vril” was one of the names assigned to the flying discs manufactured, or at least studied, by the Third Reich. Ángel Acoglanis took note.	Comment by Author: He also learned from whom? Conversely, you could write:

“He was also aware ….”  OR “He also knew that…”	Comment by Author: researched?  tested?

    One day, our protagonist told his wife that he went was going out to look for a job and left without nearly carrying almost anynothing on him. But this time he did not come backcome back: ; he disappeared forever from his house home and from Ramallo. AngelÁngel would no longerwould never again  return to the city, would not want to see his wife again, would notor try to get in touch with his children anymore. Zulema was about to turn 34 years oldthirty-four, Miguel Ángel eight, and Oscar five. More than a decade separates what we might call the adult “first life” of the adult Ángel Cristo Acoglanis - , one characterized by anonymity, poverty, manual laborthe work of a worker, the residencea home in Ramallo, his a wife and his two children - , of andhis his “ second life, ”“, marked by a ggrowing notoriety fame and material well-being, a different profession, and a new domicile, another wife, and additional another offspring. In the interval between the two, intermediate time Acoglanis, who was far from being an avid a great reader, came into contact with some books that undoubtedly determined his mentis form and all his entire later life. It wasThese consisted of a only amere handful of bookstexts, but they all pointed more or less in the same direction. The heart Heart of Asia (1929), a brief but intense memoir of the painter and philosopher Nicholas Roerich, put introduced Angel Ángel in touch withto the mysteries of Tibet and with the Agni Yoga, a theosophical doctrine that the Roerichs and his wife Helena had developed after being inspired by third parties (For that purpose, let us remember that his own wife, Helena Roerich,Helena proclaimed to be in close contact with the master Morya and with other Mahatmas of Blavatskian memory). The book is important especially because ofdue to its second part, which focused focuses on the myth of the secret kingdom Kingdom of Shambhala, hitherto unknown in the West but named in different various key oriental sources of relief, among which is was a book in the possession of the prior of the monastery in on the mountain Wutaishan (remember this sound name so captivating). In the words of Roerich, Shambhala - , which, from the a physical point of view is an underground valley and therefore inaccessible to any ordinary mortals who have tried to reach out ofit just out of  sheer curiosity - , is a “retreat” with temples, laboratories, and Towers towers of absolute material concretion, where the where enlightened spirits can be achieve perfectedperfection. Thubten Gyatso, The the thirteenth Dalai Lama, Thubten Gyatso, inaccurately located Shambhala between Tibet and Mongolia. In tThe vicinity of the holy city, which Roerich believes believed to havehe had approached, a is always permeated by a delicate perfume. is always perceived and tThe Russian painter also claims claimed to have seen a huge object, bright and spheroidal, passing by like an arrow at high altitude. Temples and laboratories in an underground valley, perfumes and UFOs in theon mountains: here these are four elements to which that we will shall rereturn to our attention later on.	Comment by Author: Or: seek out?	Comment by Author: his “mindset”?  “future mindset”?	Comment by Author: unclear – do you mean: “made famous by Blavatsky”?	Comment by Author: to what does this parenthetic statement refer? Can it be deleted?	Comment by Author: Unclear – “or a purely material substance”?

   Another reading ofbook read by Acoglanis after his departure from Ramallo was Lost Horizons (1933) by the English writer James Hilton, where the first to mention of refer to Shangri-La, is found, that mystical enchanted valley of the Himalayas that is inspired by the aforementioned tradition of the aforementioned Shambhala . The knot plot of this novel is simple toeasily synthesizesummarized. Hugh Conway, a courageous military soldier and incorruptible British diplomat, is preparing to leaveflying from Pakistan to  England Pakistan to go to England in the company of three compatriots, when the the pilot diverts the plane in which it travels is diverted by the pilot towards nearby Mount Nanga Parbat and , in the vicinity, in the middle of An icy nothing, the ship makes an emergency landing in the middle of an icy nowhere. Just as the company of passengers . When hope is about to leave abandon all hopethe company, along comes a caravan arrives led by Chang, who introduces himself as the lama of the Shangri-La monastery and invites the Europeans to follow him. After two days of walking trudging in the snow, they arrive at a paradisiacal valley, with a miraculously temperate climate, in the shadow of Mount Karakal: . Situated around the magnificent monastery there are different various temples and a village with a few thousand inhabitants. After several some days, during which they are kindly cared for and can recover their strength, the English arrive at the disturbing conclusion that the solicitous Chang has no intention of helping them return to civilization, ; on quite the contrary: , they realize that their appearance arrival was had been expected,  and their permanent presence residence deemed necessary and its obligatorypermanence in situ an obligation. The four Englishmen were are taken to Shangri-La to to staytrain as students first, and rise to lamas later, and while Conway, a man whose rectitude is known all over the worldwide, is offers offered the possibility of replacing a certain Perrault, close tonear death, in the position of as Grand Lama.

    Acoglanis was shocked by the story and sbehind the narrative seemed to glimpse actual  facts behind the narrativetruly occurred, which reinforced his growing interest in the “other” realities and ignited his enthusiasm for the mysteries of the East. In the same period, AngelÁngel had in his hands owned a copy of The Edge of the Knife (1944), ) by English poet and novelist, William Somerset Maugham, whose aim was to put theintroduce the casual reader in contact with to the idea of   jumping from leaving behind everyday life to theand search for the transcendent. The Its protagonist is  is Lawrence Darrell, a young military pilot from Chicago, who, during the Great War in France, saw sees a comrade in arms, die who had just had saved his life shortly before, die in combat; . since then From this point on, his existence seems to him lackingceases to make any sense. After completely aAbandoning the bourgeois values o  typical of Western civilization, "Larry" hopes to free rid himself of the money he still has in order to be able to work in a mechanical workshop and then later drive a taxi in New York City. The writer author concludes by saying stating that the story, as despite its complicated complexity and with a curious conclusion, has a happy ending, because the important thing is that Larry found finds that for which what he was looking for. As before with the other literary works,  that he had already absorbed, Ángel Cristo took everything he read in this one as a testimony of real actual events. To him the story seemed another further confirmation of beingthat he was on the right path to achieve “enlightenment.”.

    In addition to the works of about which we have already spoken  and of which we know with certainty that AÁngel was anhad read  attentive readerly, it is quite probable that the Rosario would he also browsed through other writings, perhaps possibly lent him borrowed by friends and acquaintances, more who were fortunate enough to have more  advantaged than he in the books as well as innd greater economic resourcesmeans than he. In retrospect, —as we shall see, —logic indicates suggests that he had some contact withknowledge of the works by of Helena Blavatsky and of other theosophists such as Steiner, Edouard Schuré, and, above all, Annie Besant and Alice Bailey. It was around this time that The the latter last of these had just wrote written that Shambhala, as a the metaphysical center situated in of a parallel dimension, is was the seat of Sanat Kumara, the supreme spiritual being of the Earth, the planetary logos. Acoglanis took careful note carefully. FantasicFantastical esoteric essays and novels with a whiff of theosophy, on the one hand, and the self-interest as manifest for in the the study of healing and the integral well-being of the human beingindividual, on the other,: here are the main ingredients components of our history are and already in place in life of itsa part of our  protagonist’s life still in his thirties.	Comment by Author: does the planetary logos refer to Earth or to the supreme spiritual being?
   
Acoglanis, healer.: The “tibetanTibetan” connectionconnection	Comment by Author: Perhaps “Acoglanis, the healer”


   From Ramallo, Acoglanis went to San José del Rincón, a small town in the same province— of Santa Fe, —which has been an independent municipality since since 1991 is an independent municipality. There Here he practiced medicine, so to speak, applying the talent he had inherited talent offrom Euripides Crispínin and his growing knowledge of  chiropractic, knowledge whosethe origin of which we ignore,do not know,  but which he claimed to have receive acquired from the astral plane, sometimes occasionally via automatic writing (or psychography, as spiritualists like to call it). In 1968, San José del Rincón became too narrow small for Ángel, who felt ready to point tohead for other, more ambitious horizons. He thus set out westward, towards Córdoba, the region of the indigenous Comechingones (we shall see that this is also a fact of no less importance in to our history, as we shall see), in the heart of Argentina.

    The His first stop was Villa Carlos Paz, an urban center of some 60,000 inhabitants, belonging to the department of Punilla Department, the which takes its name from it takes from the charming eponymous valley of the same name. The city, built on the shores of Lake San Roque, in summer is one of the Argentina’s main summer tourist destinations of Argentines. The His second next stage stop was in La Falda, a charming lovely city on the Sierras Chicas de Córdoba, north of Carlos Paz, located sixty kilometers from the provincial capital and eight hundred from Buenos Aires. Built in the shadow of the two hills, El Cuadrado and La Banderita, it is close toa few kilometers south of the Uritorco Uritorco—- the hill that is of interest to this saga and the present work - —and to the city at its feetbase, Capilla del Monte, which is locatedlies a little further north. After having livedliving in La Falda, a few kilometers south of Uritorco hill, Acoglanis moved a few kilometers to the northwest of that mountain, to Serrezuela, in which lies in the department Department of Cruz del Eje, 200 and 950 kilometers distant from the cities of Córdoba and Buenos Aires, respectively, and near the border with of the province of La Rioja. But it this was a brief stay, as the Rosario was already had a clear a more ambitious destination: the Argentine capital.	Comment by Author: is Uritorco a mountain or a hill?	Comment by Author: This form doesn’t work in English; you must use either “the native of Rosario” or his name

    Acoglanis found a boiling Buenos Aires teeming within terms of interest in historical revisionism, border disciplines, alternative therapies, a certain type of archeology, ovnilogy, theosophy and esotericism esoterica in general: . in those years they frequented Frequenting Buenos Aires Aires in those years were personalities such as Raúl Albala, Julio Goyén Aguado, Emilio Laporga, Jacques de Mahieu, Juan Móricz, Mario Pantaleo, Miguel Serrano, Pedro Romaniuk, Benjamín Solari Parravicini, Guillermo Terrera and Fabio Zerpa, to name a few.	Comment by Author: ? esoteric disciplines? marginal disciplines (those outside the mainstream?)	Comment by Author: UFOs?
   In With the arrival in Buenos Aires, new readings also arrived. Acoglanis discovered more books, such aswas struck down by Seven Years in Tibet (1952), the a memoir of by the Austrian mountain climber Heinrich Harrer, which definitely ignited fired Ahingel's fantasy. Harrer,  hada noted climber, did not imagined that his desire to conquer the summit of Nanga Parbat (the same mountain cited mentioned by James Hilton in his novel) would change his life forever, to the point of becoming almost a and nearly make him adopt Tibetan by as his homeland. adoption. In August 1939,  he and his climbing partner, Peter Aufschnaiter, werewere  arrested by British soldiers near Karachi: ; Britain’s entry into the war determined resulted in his their immediate confinement in a prison camp in India. After several ome failed attempts, , the two Austrians managed to flee the field and set off for Lhasa, the capital of Tibet, on a long and difficult amazingn amazing journey on footdue to its duration and difficulty, undertaken on foot. After months of efforts of all kindssorts of efforts, they finally arrived at their destination. , where They they were immediately subjugated overwhelmed by the splendor of the famous palace of the Potala, the winter residence of the Dalai Lama, and by the medical school that stands on Mount Chagpori. Also Acoglanis was subjugated by what he read, but it was not the first.	Comment by Author: their (were both confined?)	Comment by Author: unclear: do you mean “In this case, Acoglanis was once again overwhelmed by what he read, but he was not the only one.”??  

    	Cyril Henry Hoskin was born in 1910 in a suburb of Plymouth, England. Son of a plumber and a housewife, he initially worked with his father, and but then employed inmoved on to a surgical instruments company. In 1954, at the age of 44 years of age, he read an English edition of Seven Years in Tibet in English translation and became so obsessed with the book to the point of that it made him wantwanting to change his life. And soso, he did. After having studiedstudying Harrer’s volume down to the smallest detail, Hoskin sat next to thebefore his typewriter and produced a kind of novel of sorts, The Third Eye (1956), which he signed with the a Tibetan name, of Lobsang Rampa: The Third Eye (1956). The book was intended to be “the autobiography of a Tibetan lama,” a monk and physician belonging to a high-ranking family in Lhasa. This doubtful dubious Rampa got paired up with an interested editor in London, and the workhis work soon found met with the favor of favor with a vast number of readersa vast audience. Hoskin continued writing and publishing published some twenty bookbookss, and would; no doubt he would have produced more if in had his death in 1981 death had not truncated his passion for fiction and Tibet. Acoglanis read at least three Of works by this very unique author - —luscious lavish in with regard to the facts, but certainly enthusiastic in writing and not lacking in any literary talent - Acoglanis read at least three works: the aforementioned The Third Eye already quoted, The Tibet Doctor (1959), ) and The Wisdom of the Elders (1965). As is knownnoted, The Third Eye relates the childhood and the studies of the Tibetan lama. The aAstrologers determine with precision the destiny of the small young Lobsang with great precision: ; he will be both a monk and a doctor, he will suffer serious problems of all kinds, he will emigrate to far distant lands (the American continent), he will lose everything, he will start from scratch again, and finally, he will succeed; —a prediction prophecy that we must keep bear in mind, as it will be seen later, when it will be applied by another character to his own person. At a certain moment - —a littlea bit like as in Roerich’s book - —the a UFO phenomenon appears: . Lobsang observes “strange apparatuses,”, “floats of the gods” that swinging over the mountains; . do Do not be surprised, says the writerauthor, since the populated worlds are can be counted by the millions, and there are lamas that have who engage in telepathic communication with the visitors of from outer Spacespace. De Roerich also too derives the his allusion about from Shambhala, as well as from the story about the subsistence survival of materials and devices of unknown ancient incivilizations in  deep caverns of materials and devices from unknown ancient civilizations.	Comment by Author: ambiguous”. as it will be applied by another character in this story to himself”?  	Comment by Author: unclear – he derives his allusion to Shambahla as well as the story ….. from ***??
   T
The success of Rampa’s premium top opera opus brought him satisfactions but also problems. Harrer read The Third Eye and immediately realized the deception and that its author had plagiarized his own bookplagiarism;. He hired a private investigator to shed light on the matter, and so, in 1958, Hoskin was publicly unmasked publicly for as an English employee posing as what he was: not a Tibetan monk but an English employee. The news was reported byhit the newspapers and the false lama was smashed to pieces by the press. However, Hoskin managed to use the controversy with intelligenceintelligently to redouble his bet and increase the fame of Lobsang Rampa. He by published publishing The Tibet Doctor, for all intents and purposes the second part of Rampa’s biographical accounty, . and tThe public did not want to escapecould not resist the curiosity of seeing how the writer tried towould justify himself to and move forward. The author immediately tried to save his face by explaining that on a one good fine day, before he writing wrote his first work, the spirit of the lama of Lhasa had possessed the body of the this Devon employee of Devon, in order to spread in the West the truths, of which he is a was the carrier bearer, in the West. Here is was an idea that pleased delighted Acoglanis: with an explanation of this kind, even the most obvious act of deception deceit could be somehow be pardoned and justified, at least for the most more naive interlocutors.	Comment by Author: what do you mean?  Redouble hist efforts?	Comment by Author: “at least to most naïve audiences”?  “interlocutors” are participants in a dialogue.

   Once again, then, the spirituality of the Himalayas and Tibetan medicine - , although albeit “falsified” by anthrough the improvised improvisation of a European writer writer, - werelay at the center of Acoglanis’ attention. But above all of onewhat thing Angel Ángel Christ took note of very carefullyabove all:  was the idea thatthe recourse to the spirit of an enlightened spiritual master who seizescould seize the body of an ordinary man in order to carry out his mission. ThusAs it turned out, 1969 was a special year in Ángel’sthe life of Angel. He was i Living in n Buenos Aires, he was practicing his own  his own medicine on his own, in the department of Libertad Street in the neighborhood of Recoleta, when an acquaintance had the idea of   introducing him to a foreign visitor as who was as important as he was discretediscreet, and who had recently disembarked in the Argentina: a Tibetan lama. This lama personage had a name such aso long and difficult name for the Spanish speakers that he simply asked to be called, more simply,them to call him SaarumaSaarumá. In addition to being a monk, SaarumaSaarumá was a worthy doctor, trained in an ancient technique of the Tibetan tradition known as bodkyi gsoba rigpa. It is bBased on a holistic approach to the human beingman, it rests based on the assumption that all discomfort (and all evil, in general) has a non-physical origin that must be sought in ignorance, attachment and aversion. This therapeutic tradition uses relies onboth drugs derived from natural substances as well as , changes in diet, and physical therapies such as acupuncture. SaarumaSaarumá was specialized in the healing of the spine: for according to him, the perfect human health of man depended on the correct conformation and position of the vertebrae, and almost nearly all diseases could be cured or at least mild mitigated if it was known on whichby correct manual maneuvering of the vertebra in order to unblock to put hands and how to do it, in order to the flow of energy circulating down the spine, unblock the flow of energy that circulated along the spine; exactly as Lobsang Rampa had written it proposed. The Tibetan lama decided to teach others about this medicine and for that hethis reason came to was be introduced to Acoglanis. For five years, every each morning from Monday to Friday, SaarumaSaarumá gave classes, free of charge, to six Argentines: five medical doctors in medicine and an autodidact (AngelÁngel) of extraordinary talent.	Comment by Author: district?	Comment by Author: unclear – the discomfort and evil lies in ignorance, attachment and aversion? 	Comment by Author: alignment?
   	During these years of study, Acoglanis maintained a sentimental relationship with Dr. Marisa (as everyone called her) Mur, 27 years younger than himhis junior. The relationship was destined to last about around twenty years,,  undergoing through more andmany more curious twists and twisted instancesturns, as we will have opportunity to checkshall see.	Comment by Author: romantic?  Intimate?  
   When As 1974 approached, Saarumá affirmed announced that he had completed hiswas done teaching; He he said goodbye and never came back. The Saarumá’s chiropractic and osteopathic specialty of, Saarumá, which can be defined asis known as vertebral praxis, is practiced in different various parts of the globe, but today in South America almostnearly all those who practice it in South America today learned it from Saarumá or one of its his six students. The bulk of these six “colleagues” (the quotation marks are necessary, sinc ase in the group was alsoincluded Acoglanis, who - —let’s remember -— had notnever got through  passed primary school) began to working in the context of on a common project: that of a medical office located in the “A” department of on the first floor of Avenida Callao 1541. Additionally, tThe second floor became his dwelling. The application of the techniques taught by SaarumaSaarumá proved to be as efficient as it was profitable, and soon the waiting room was filled with patients of all kinds. It wasThings went on like this for years: the practice was an authentic true gold mine, to which many came enthusiastically and often came walked out cured.	Comment by Author: Most?	Comment by Author: Acoglanis’?
   	As Like the biblical messiah from whom he took his second name, Ángel Cristo Acoglanis had a first life, that which we could define as private, and a second, life, the public lifeone, whose starting date can be be placed set in around 1974, the year he saw the departure of SaarumaSaarumá’s departure. An old acquaintance who would have met running into Acoglanis in ‘74 might may not have recognized him. Those who knew him from that year forward, on the other hand, never imagined that this singular character had had a past different from the one he relatedrecounted. It is necessaryWe must to underline underscore the expression phrase “different from the one that he himself relacounted” because this man suddenly invented an autobiography all of a sudden, even indown to its smallest details, and when they asked him someanything about it, he did not hesitate to lie blatantly, even to his closest friends and each every member of your his new family, which we will talk aboutwe discuss right nextaway.
    In By 1974, Ángel was close to fifty, had undergone many changes as he passed from city to city, many female couples and several children, and but was nonetheless presented to all interested parties as a gallant bachelor without offspring. The young Beatriz Mühn became was interested intrigued in by him. The wedding took place in Uruguay. Behind an the original ceremony abroad and a romantic honeymoon in the charming Uruguayan landscape countryside hid lurked a more concrete questionmatter: for according tohe Argentine law, Acoglanis was still, to all effects, married to Zulema Serrato all effects with Zulema Serra., a This fact was ignored by Beatriz.	Comment by Author: ?? do you mean “had known many women and sired several children”??	Comment by Author: “an unconventional”?
    	AngelÁngel and Betty (as they like to be called) had five children and also adopted two othersmore. Acoglanis was,  once again, an affectionate father, but quite absent, since he took the plane flew twice a week, to and from work: from Monday to Thursday he was in Buenos Aires to checking on the numerous patients who crowded inthronged his the office of “A. C. Akoglanis, ,” as he had been re-baptized christened by the Osteopathic Medical Institute  (whose director signed “Professor AngelÁngel Christo Akoglanis”). It This was a weekly routine not unlike that the one that which Saarumá had fulfilled followed during his stay in Argentina.	Comment by Author: “whose director had elevated him to the rank of professor”?
    Our man protagonist was did not limited limit himself to osteopathy and chiropracticchiropractic: he also began to work practicing with homeopathy and traditional Chinese medicine, and also believed that it was possible to prevent, palliate, and even cure cancer through with natural preparations and dietary interventions on diet he also thought it possible to prevent, palliate and even cure cancer. The professionalHis reputation and commercial success of Acoglanis spreadgrew by leaps and bounds. Over the years, AngelÁngel came to earn $ 150 per consultation, a very an extremely high figure for Argentina in the ‘80s. Among the patients and friends attracted by his magnetic personality were famous artists, businessmen, and military men, politicians and other renowned peoplefigures, both Argentine and foreign. As often happens, you one enters the best rooms carried at the side of by someone else's hand. In the field of finance and especially of politics that someone, —for AngelÁngel, —was Rubén Elías Antonio. Born in Buenos Aires in 1929 of to immigrants of humble origins - —the his father, Lebanese mother - —he owed what little  bit of notoriety fame he enjoyed to being the fact that he was the younger brother of Jorge Antonio, a character well known to everyone interested in recent Argentine history.. I In 1943, Jorge Antonio met Perón and became his financial consultant and friend. Rubén Elías Antonio was accustomed to living in the shadow of his older brother, thanks to whose success he had managed to forget thea youth of hardships of his  youth and was able to embrace an unlimited economic comforts without limits that did not impose without any obligation to hold a fixed steady joblabor obligation. He was thus free could thusto devote his time freely to his hobbies, among which was the frequent attendance ofing certain esoteric areas (or allegedly such) areas. No wonder then that he hadof the  an understanding with of Acoglanis, who became an his intimate friend to the point of becoming serving as godfather of baptism to one of his children. Rubén, in fact, put the healer in touch with the highest levels of Argentine politics and finance, particularly in the Peronist realm.	Comment by Author: remedies?  	Comment by Author: something seems to be missing here – were both parents Lebanese??	Comment by Author: First name needed since this is the first time he’s mentioned

Reading William Hunt Williamson.: Strange political connections

   	For his part, AngelÁngel needed a final push to complete his esoteric vision of a theosophical matrix and found it in the reading of the book The Secret of the Andes (1961) ; the authorby an author who signed identified himself as “Brother Philip” but he who was none other than the American UFO contactist contactee and metaphysician George Hunt Williamson. Like the own Acoglanis, Hunt Williamson boasted of having having never actually completed university studies and loved to be called “professor” or “doctor.”. He had been aA follower of George Adamski, and thenhe had becoame a channel for cosmic messages in which the doctrines coming fromof Theosophy and the Brotherhood of the Seven Rays, founded by Dorothy Martin, converged.	Comment by Author: this is how he is referred to on the Web (I wasn’t able to find “contactist” in the English dictionary)	Comment by Author: This term uus not in the dictionary and I couldn’t find it on the Web; do you mean 
   	The secret Secret of the Andes afforded Acoglanis the missing piece to of complete his mental puzzle: the possibility of transferring all mystical legends from East to West, from Asia to America, and from the Himalayas to the Andes. In this book, Williamson moves through familiar semantic spaces through with an already familiar lexicon - —the Brothers of Space, the inner retreats, the White Brotherhood, Shangri-La, the purification of the Earth by means of ccatastrophic destructions, the Space Confederation-- —and cites refers to the a Hierarchy hierarchy composed of Sanat Kumara, Kut Humi, Hilarion, Michael, and other archangels. But there the book also containsare also new ideas, such as the oneone that indicatesproposing that the masculine energies of the spiritual centers of Tibet are removed to make room for the work of the feminine energies of the Andes, which focused are concentrated on in Peru. Interesting as well is the use that the author makes of some rather unusual terms that would soon become part of the daily vocabulary used by the healer from Rosario: the system of Mirrors, the Kingdom, the Remnant, the Call.	Comment by Author: can be?  must be?


   
	The secret Secret of the Andes was the main  Ángel Christ’s main reading text on “contact,” of Angel Christ,though he who also undoubtedly knew without doubt both the story stories of Adamski and Eugenio Siragusa, —those of the latter perhaps possibly through from one of the three apologetic books of by the Spanish Spaniard Victorino del Pozo.
   	In those years, Acoglanis also approached other types of readings, ones that were more focused from the political and ideological point of view, but also much far more controversial compared tothan the innocuous books he had studied up to that momenttime. He went from the little barely disguised Germanic pride of Harrer and the Hoskin’s generic hatred of Hoskin by the communists, to a literature of a of strongdeep Nazi imprint. It is, namely the explicit, neo-esoteric Nazism, in effect, thatNational Socialism of the Chilean diplomat and tireless writer on the subject, Miguel Serrano, tireless writer on the subject. According to Serrano,  was convinced that there wasthere was  a great war on a cosmic scale in which the Demiurge, evil lord of the Earth, was fights fighting to erase the racial memory of the “White Gods” (the Hyperborean Aryans, descendants of extraterrestrials) from the face of the planet the racial memory of the "White Gods" (the Hyperborean Aryans, descendants of extraterrestrials) ; the worshipers of this Demiurge and his flag - —the materialism that enslaves men man and condemns them him to involution - —would, of course, beere the perfidious Jews.
   	In El círculo hermético [The hermetic Hermetic circleCircle] (1965) of , Serrano relates the author's his friendship with Jung and Hesse, of whom he emphasizes theemphasizing their particular peculiar pphilosophical and esoteric leanings aspectsrather than their better known literary and scientific ideas, in spite of the literary and scientific ones that have always been in the view of all. If we can must believe the author, then Hesse and Jung talked with spoke to him as it is spoken f among to an initiates of the same mystery mystical school.
   	It is a recent news of tThehe death of Salvador Borrego, Serrano’s Mexican counterpart and contemporary , at the biblical age of 102, of Salvador Borrego, the Mexican equivalent of Serrano, of whom he was coevalis recent news. This exponent of the most an extreme radical historical revisionism was substantially in agreementagreed with Serrano’s vision of a cosmic war on a cosmic scale, but if the Chilean latter deepened especiallywas especially keen the on its esoteric aspects of this great conflict, Borrego was more intrigued stopped more onby its specific (or presumably suchso) information. of history, politics, economics, intelligence, and military strategy. In Infiltración mundial [World Infiltration] (1968), as far as we know the only book about the Second World War that , as far as we know, Acoglanis ever has read, the author aligns himself with Nazism and against in opposition to Zionism, which he considers the puppeteer on of whom both American capitalism and Soviet communism: . according to himAccording to his argument, Jews are,have always and been and forever will be anyway, both the intellectual authors of these perverse doctrines and the concrete executors of their nefarious policies, against which the Third Reich fought loyally and heroically fought.	Comment by Author: ?? “impact on”?	Comment by Author: ideologies?
   ThenA, as in the past, so now,  also in the political field Acoglanis seldom had few reading about s,politics, but what he did read was quite very punctual,to the point and always all tending always iinn the same direction. Once again, it this is not a minor fact: we shawill soon see how important these bibliographical frequencies will would be in the his future life of Acoglanis. Meanwhile, AngelÁngel’s daily interest in politics, initially limited to Peronism, was now beginning to extend to extended to embrace also the most rugged forms of right-wing authoritarian populism, including military dictatorships. Towards the end ofIn the late 1970s, Acoglanis met General Alfredo Stroessner, the dictator of Paraguay for no fewer than 35 years, no less, whom he managed to cure from of skin cancer. This intervention and as well as the fact that he healing healed one of one of the dictator’s daughterss of the dictator, Graciela, assured him the friendship not only of Stroessner, butthat also that of both his brother and that of his wife, Eligia Mora. Stroessner, gGrateful, the dictator wanted to give him a house in Asunción and also sent him - —without the need for any academic formality - —the diploma that certified a his medical degree from the National University of Asunción. Until a few years agorelatively recently, titles could be purchased unfortunately, in some of the less developed countries of Latin America titles could be purchased, , especially if there wasby those with  adequate the right political contact. This As the diploma , however, had no official value in Argentina, however, so in his homeland Acoglanis continued to practice medicine illegally in his homeland.	Comment by Author: unclear – do you mean his period intense study of books?  	Comment by Author: perhaps “uncompromising”. “stalwart”?
   	Members of The the highest political spheres in Bolivia also turned to Acoglanis for solutions to serious health problems. It Such was the case of General Hugo Banzer, dictator of his country between 1971 and 1978, whose cancer nevertheless took dragged him to his the grave in 2002.
   I	t Such was also the case, with Alejandro Lanusse and the Alemann brothers in Argentina, of Alejandro Lanusse and the Alemann brothers. General Lanusse was the de facto president of the country between 1971 and 1973. Dr. Juan Alemann, in turn, spent five years as the reliable Secretary of the Treasury during the government of General Jorge Videlawas for five years a reliable Secretary of the Treasury during the government of General Jorge Videla. His brother, Dr. Roberto Alemann, on the other hand, covered  served for a brief time the position of as the Economy Minister of General Leopoldo Galtieri. In Thus by 1982, our protagonist had acquired a certain status in some South American countries as a result ofdue to  the remarkable effectiveness of his osteopathic techniques, . our protagonist had achieved certain notoriety in some South American areas. InDuring this period, many knew him as he preferred to present himself: , namely, as “Dr. AngelÁngel Christos Akoglanis,”, of Greek nationality origin and, naturally, a graduate in in Medicine.
   	Acoglanis had already made a name for himself in the field of osteopathy, chiropracticchiropractic, acupuncture, and acupressure, and his studyoffice,,  renamed with thewith its suggestive name of, Alternative Clinics, was always full of patients who adored him. The “doctorDoctor” Acoglanis liked to tell stories about his birth in Greece, his life as a university student of medicineal student, his political exile for political reasons, his trips to Tibet and India, and then later to Albania and Germany, where he had gone , to perfect work on himself. He even declared that the fourteenth and current Dalai Lama had entrusted him with a spiritual mission of the utmost importance to develop in South America; it was for that reason that for that reason it he had moved to Argentina, in 1965 (first the year after the he abandonment ofed his wife and children) or- —as he told the majoritymost people - —in 1974 (that is, when he met Beatriz).
   The false fictitious biography of the “new” Acoglanis was based on the equally false biographyictitious one prognosticated for of Lobsang Rampa,  in Hoskinprophesied to him in childhood since the’s first novel of Hoskin: it included studies training asto be a monk and doctor, serious problems hardships of all kinds, emigration to far awaydistant lands ( the American continent), the loss of everything, a new start from scratch, again from scratch and, finally, succeedsuccess. There were nNo traces left of the original Acoglanis remained: fifty years of life his existence had been swept aside and, instead, Angel replaced by placed an articulate fable that still continues to circulate undauntedunabated, even among the Acoglanis’ direct relatives of Acoglanis. The life of Acoglanis iIn the 1980s his chaotic life was a precisely organizedchaos organized with precision: from Monday to Wednesday he worked in Buenos Aires, and spent from Thursday to Sunday he could be found in his house home in Villa Allende (Córdoba), where he attended to patients, received friends, and from which he visited with increasing interesthe hill oft the Uritorco hill.with growing interest 	Comment by Author: persuasive?
   
Ufological connections: Capilla del Monte 

   	The one in 1983Another crucial year year in the life of Ángel Cristo Acoglanis was 1983. But before entering exploring thatinto matter, we must open a parenthesistake a detour to to talk about a place outside of Argentina. The Our site that of interests us is located situated on the other far side of the Río de la Plata, in the Eastern Republic of Uruguay. This is thKnown ase the “La Aurora” ranch, it is an agricultural establishment of one thousand hectares located on the border between the departments of Paysandú and Salto,  and administered since 1918 by the Tonna family.	Comment by Author: Districts?
    	On February 17th, 1977, Ángel María Tonna and her relatives observed from inside their home a strong glow in the middle of the field from the house. They thoughtThinking it was a fire, they and went to put it out. Upon reaching theArrived to the  placespot, they said to have seensaw —as they later recounted—a disc-shaped flying object, in the shape of disc, ofa few meters of in diameter, metallic, and strongly highly luminous. Ángel Tonna reported that shortly afterwards, during in the middle of the night, he had been contacted by a person named Nicolás. Nicolás pPresenteding himself as the leader of spiritual, extraterrestrial, and intra-terrestrial visitors, Nicolás, who since 1976 admitted that he had begun to visiting “La Aurora” for a precise reason: the estancia was had been built over an “etheric city" - called justcity” known simply as Aurora - —whose existence, It had to be disseminated in a timely manner, so that the elect could reach the place and have particular experiences.	Comment by Author: words seem to have been deleted here – the sentence is not finished.	Comment by Author: To what does “it” refer? news of this etheric city?
   	Let us close this necessary parenthesisGetting back on track, and let us return to the first each weeks of 1983, at which time Marisa Mur -— Acoglanis’ colleague, friend, and lover of Acoglanis - —discovered that the growing problems she was having  with in her eyes were was due tocaused by glaucoma. Marisa Mur decided to visit the ranch. She was received by Tonna, who told her that the “Space doctors,”, guided by Nicolás, were looking for a man willing to donate his body to fulfill a spiritual and healing mission. Marisa warned alerted Acoglanis of to this singular fact, and in February of 1983, the therapist rushed to the placesite, ready to answer the call of those beings with whom Tonna said tohad purportedly been in contact and in whose existence AÁngel believed. Between “the two AngelÁngels” a positive understanding quickly flourished.
   	The fact was that When the advance of Marisa’s glaucoma slowed downsoon stopped her development somewhat, and Acoglanis, novel the new Hoskin / Rampa, stated announced that she had agreed to share her body with an extraterrestrial entity -  fromcoming from the Pleiades - called Saarumaá (others also prefer to writespelled Sarumah, or also Sarhumá). As Saarumáa’s vehicle of Saaruma, the objective of Acoglanis became intent on to revealing the existence of a spiritual center hidden in the dimensional folds of another reality, but located underground in a place in a place that should be pointed out. His of which the real true name has had not yet been revealed, but it canwhich could be called Erks or, better yet, City of the Blue Flame. SaarumaSaarumá, who comes came from this spiritual city, had awas under obligation duty to guide Acoglanis there.	Comment by Author: was it she or he who would share their body?
   	Once discovered, this “etheric city", ”“ and sister of Shambhala, had to be activated and kept open by a ceremonial worky aimed at contactingaddressed to her Hierarchy, that is to say, the disembodied masters who have had lived in that the city for millennia; . FinallyFurthermore, it was necessary to take some chosen ones had to be brought there and spread among themtaught about the doctrine that was thelay at the root of this etheric center. As Acoglanis explained: , the voice term “erks” can have many meanings and is also an acronym, with that lends itself to different possibilities of interpretation; . in In Spanish, he preferred to interpret it as **an [Encounter of Sidereal Cosmic Remnants] (the reason for the “k” must be sought, not by chanceaccident, in the theosophyTheosophical realm).	Comment by Author: the original Spanish is needed here
   	The meaning behind the first acronym was explained as followsexplained thus: at the beginning of time, some beings were scattered throughout the universe, because of  due to a perverse attempt to subvert the cosmic order and to slow down the plan of universal development: and; well, among the objectives of this city spiritual and underground city was to recognize and gather the descendants of these scattered beings,, who are embodied in on our planet; . in terms ofAs for Brother Philip (used understood as literally existent by AngelÁngel), it he is the remnant that comes back, responding to the Call.
   	In March 1983, in the presence of Betty and Marisa, Acoglanis underwent the transmigration of the his spirit of into the body of SaarumaSaarumá to the body of Acoglanis took place. Having Accomplished accomplished this passage, AngelÁngel left departed, accompanied by the two women, in the direction of the that place where you could seethe lights from of Erks were visible and which offered contact to the city itself: the aforementioned hill of Uritorco, in the Argentine province of Córdobaordoba, at whose feet lay the city of Capilla del Monte, a town already by then not without harboring legends and myths.
   	From the city of Capilla del Monte, Acoglanis and his two companions made several trips to Uritorco, in search of the righta place that would best serve for the purposes of SaarumaSaarumá. They found it on the northwest side of the hill, in a placean area called Los Terrones that lay , in frontbefore of the hill of Pajarillo hill and near the a route that,, marking marking the northern end border of Uritorco, reaches reached the valley of Ongamira valley. Identified Identifying the Los Terrones as the place of contact, Acoglanis explained to Betty and Marisa their task that was theirsassignment. Erks represented referred to the awakening of feminine energy,  as expressed through a particular communication system made up ofbased on the use of three mirrors - (we here we can recall have to remember Brother Philip -) that are exist in the Temple of the sphereSphere. To make contact with the city, was they needed to create an “energy triangle” in which the two women would crown the priest, which who was none other than Acoglanis. In theAt that place, the three met with Ramón Verón, a retired school teacherschoolteacher, who had been born in the neighboring province of La Rioja 68 years earlier. He had come into possession of the placeland, or at least the access road that goes back to its panoramic esplanade, when the area was had been sparsely populated and was unknown by to tourists.
   	AngelÁngel and Ramón had common interests and friendship. They agreed to be able to climb to the summit of Los Terrones also at dusk and stay there until well into the night,  in order to celebrate communication ceremonies with Erks. On March 21st, Acoglanis / Saarumá held the his first contact ceremony with Erks. 	Between From 1983 and to 1989 AngelÁngel continued to work as a therapist in Buenos Aires, but his activity as a spiritual master by the name ofcalled SarumaSaarumá began gradually began  to take the leadprecedence. In those these years he regularly gathered brought together groups of friends, patients, and disciplesregularly in at Capilla del Monte groups of friends, patients and disciples. When dusk camearrived, he would took take them to Los Terrones to participate in a ritual of that enabled eye contact with Erks, whose lights, which seemed to beappeared to be visible, to those present, overcomingame the general disbelief of those present. On these occasions, AngelÁngel explained that he was Saarumá and presented himself a little jokingly mockingly as “the goalkeeper of Erks.”. The people who accompanied Acoglanis in at these ceremonies are numberedcounted in the hundreds, but the circumstances in which they did so only recently was remainedthis circumstance unknown until recently.
   	Here's This is how the facts activity developedproceeded. At around 7:00 pm, Acoglanis would gathered his guests on the main esplanade of Los Terrones and briefly explained explain what there was to know about the existence of Erks. At the time of the official closing of the visits to the park, with the at sunset, AngelÁngel would put on a light light-colored poncho that indicated the beginning of the priestly ceremony and its his identification with Saaruma.á. The main element feature of these ceremonies ceremonies—music—was then heard: beganmusic. Acoglanis sang some mantric songs, usually to the seconded accompaniment of by his two assistant assisting priestesses, Betty and Marisa. These mantras were almost all in an incomprehensible language, which he called by him “irdinIrdin”, which he  and claimed was of extraterrestrial origin, but related to the Sanskrit (remember Bulwer-Lytton) and Sumerian. The esplanade was the seat of the first ceremonial station, the opening introductory one; . thHere Saarumaá would sang sing chants like the nextsuch as the following.:

Ai muna iaimanatu
Praying in your temple
Kaikuana amiki
My selior priest	Comment by Author: should this be senior or señor?
Moi saiuna teminikuana
My brothers in silence
Abi simiti imina
They ask us for this prayer
Uaritumi
Father of the Cosmic Universe
(…)
Aritai kuana matun
Your ships praying, I hope
Saimi neu poritimenikiuma
Delivered in sacrifice without asking

   	The Saarumá’s song  of Saaruma seemed towould attract make lights of different various colors and dimensions seem to that were ignited in the distance in the inferior lower valley, arisen rising apparently out of the own earth and in generally showing to move toing at a low height. These lights, which he called by name, seemed attentive sensitive to what he didhis actions, said words, and sangsong Saruma, who called them by name. Soon afterwards, Acoglanis would put into actionon one of his favorite displays of power: he tooktaking out  his flashlight, he would and cut the darkness of the night with one, two, three or four rhythmic flashes of light, rhythmically. According to those present, there were some of the lights that seemed towould respond to AÁngel, increasing the power of his light emissions, in a kind of imitation of what SaarumaSaarumá had done with the his lantern. After a while, it was climbedhe would travel by car to along travel a stretch of road, until he reaching reached another observation point, a little further down. After Making a rather narrow curve, he would arriving arrive at a small esplanade next to the road,  from which it was possible to see the valley again. It wasIn the second ceremonial season, that of the meeting, in which Acoglanis sang a new mantram. From It was from this place that Acoglanis emittedlaunched  a series of loud invocations loudly, as incomprehensible as the lyrics of his songs. Then Afterwards—though - the numerous witnesses agree on the fact that this happened occurred only occasionally - —AngelÁngel would indicated inpoint to the distance, where, at a point almost on the horizon, a and  certain point to the west (although he spoke from the north)  in which he became visiblewould appear the metaphysical city of Erks, illuminated as if it were an airport or a small town, very unique because it seemed to develop only along. The general emotion emotion sparked by this was would be such so great that at this point someone could would vanish at this point and was be immediately helped by Acoglanis.	Comment by Author: unclear “and mimicking what he had done with this flashlight”?	Comment by Author: the end of the sentence seems to be missing here “only along what?”	Comment by Author: unclear logic– if someone vanished (disappeared) then how could Acoglanis help him or her? or do you mean “faint”?
   	Acoglanis Then hewould then climbed back into the car to reach get to the last the final stop, that lay  still further down and but next to the same road: . This the third and last station,  in whichwhere the contact took place and then afterwards the closure took place, was signaled marked by athe solitary presence of a carob tree. SaarumaSaarumá would followed his mysterious conversation with the lights (and with Erks, if it had already appeared soon before), at an even closer distancerange, and the repeat the chants were repeated. At that this momentpoint, AngelÁngel was would walking alone on down the road, recommending advising everyone not to follow him, in order to  so that he could “meet with the Brothers and talk to them.”: he After disappeared disappearing behind a curve in the road for twenty or thirty minutes,  after which he would returned return, absorbed in himself,,  and, having fully identified with the spirit of SaarumaSaarumá, would singing or speaking in irdin Irdin and carrying a message from the spiritual Hierarchy hierarchy to all those presentin attendance.	Comment by Author: continue?
   	In order tAt theo conclude conclusion of the sacred office, simple songs of gratitude with repetitive structures were would be sung, this time also in Spanish as well so as to and with repetitive structures, which allowed theenable the active participation of all those who had taken part in the contact experience. The ceremony concluded in generally ended before midnight, and when the teacher SaarumaSaarumá, having would removed the  his clear poncho, was again and become Ángel Cristo Acoglanis once again. The There were few variations on on this rituall scheme were few , but after a couple of years the mechanics of the ceremonies ceremony changed slightly,  to taking take into account the fact that “each night is different, each time you see a different things,”", as as AngelÁngel said, and then he began to repeat his wife.	Comment by Author: unclear – do you mean: “as Ángel began repeating to his wife.”?  

   	Back in Capilla del Monte, the Ángel’s assistants had dozens of questions to ask, but Ángel recommended urged them to remain silencesilent: ; the time of the explanations would arrive. In fact, a fewseveral days later the interested personsthose interested would began to receiving discreetly receive invitations to attend meetings in at which Acoglanis would abound in commentscomment extensively on the City of the Blue Flame.
   	But iIt did not take long for Acoglanis to realize that it was necessaryhe should to fix collect his teachings in notes or folders so that he could to distribute them among those who were invited to Uritorco. Thus, tIhe interested parties thus received a series of booklets typed by Ángel himself (but signed with the name of Saarumaá), that had the purpose of which was to provide orienting the readers with  spirituallyspiritual orientation. These materials texts were not very understandable, not easy to comprehend due in part to partly because of the poor incoherence of their content and partly because ofto the poor writing skills of the therapist's even scarcer writing ability, whose level of instruction educational level—in - contraryst to what was he affirmed in his colorful statements - —was was extremely modestquite minimal.
   	These nine typed documents, known as the Diario de Erks, produced by Ángel,, known as Diario de Erks, are the only material legacy  left by the master to by him to his disciples,, except save for some audio and video recordings, which in some cases areexplanations recorded by him in audio and video, sometimes even more confusing than his writings, and the fragments of a medical book.
   I	In one of his opuscules pamphlets, Acoglanis tried to explain get to the core of the question:  of whether the beneficial entities of extraterrestrial origin -whichthat make up constitute the White Brotherhood of which theosophyTheosophy speaks-  have always watched over the man’s destiny of humanity.

The City of the Blue Flame

   	 According to Acoglanis, Recently, tthe Central Celestial Government, to which these the aforementioned beings adhere, had recently decided to accelerate the transmutation of man in order to prepare him for an impending planetary crisis. This crisis will would be both metaphysical and material, and, in this last second plane sense, will bring a truely catastrophecatastrophic: the inclination of the terrestrial axis, which would will producegenerate catastrophic torrential floods in the the planet’s lowlands of the world. Because Tthese Big Brothers of the Cosmos would likewanted to help us in ourhumanity in its spiritual development, they would, in addition to  launching a physical rescue operation during the catastrophe cataclysm and another of reconstruction of ourhuman civilization after the disaster. This They could do sowill be possible, explained Acoglanis explained, thanks to a the new genetic code that those transmuted men willwould all receive: the GNA (an idea and term that he evidently evidently derived from Eugenio Siragusa).
   	In conclusion:To conclude, Erks was works workingexactly in towards this exact directionend, and SaarumaSaarumá is was the one who assumes had assumed the task of bringing to the threshold of the this etheric city those who are ready prepared to know learn the truth and to receive this new genetic code,  by communicating with the City of the Blue Flame to through its particular special system of mirrors.
   	The lights that were visible at night from Los Terrones, claimed said Acoglanis, were only in part those of alien spaceships or intra-terrestrial vehicles only in part. Many were emitted by spiritual beings who manifested themselves, precisely, as structures of pure energy, and whose denominations, rather than representing being proper names, indicated the tasks assigned to them. AngelÁngel gave provided about fifty names, but a short list of the beings he saidwith whom he said he was in contact with is sufficient for our purposes: Witaykon (remember recall the monastery of Wutaishan, quoted mentioned by Roerich), Adonaisen (Siragusa spoke of an Adoniesis), Tokor, Maia , Mianuk, Evesuama, Kitiuma, Impantikiuma, Maiuma, Mikiuma, Nagualkuma, Sikuma, and Taykuma, which who is was none other than the Virgin Mary.
   	To the long list of the “Uma-umas” should also be ascribed added also the three beings beings—Saarumá, Guaruma, and Guatuma—that who were  channeled during the ceremonies respectively bythrough Acoglanis, Mur, and Mühn, respectively in the ceremonies: Saruma, Guaruma and Guatuma. The Other other names are are more or less new names for characters presented by in theosophy: Amuna Kur is Sanat Kumara, Samana is Jesus Christ, Mishuk is Saint St. Teresa of Avila, Antuak is Saint Germain, Amhaj is Morya, Solhuat Khutulli is Kutumi, and so on.
   	Some oOthers are borroweddrawn, directly or indirectly, from contactists contactees of the 1950s, such as the already named noted Ashtar Sheran (who is actually the archangel archangel Michael) and Ashtar Ashgran. Finally, there is Kalkantín, is who for Acoglanis was at boththe same time a spiritual master and a former chief of the Comechingones Indians.
   	Saarumaá would then go on to continued explaining:state that Erks and the other etheric cities of their type founded in South America - —the main ones, as we shall see, the main ones are Aurora in Uruguay and Miz Tli Tlan in Peru - —operate with particular energies, unknown to the surface man. One of them is called, not by coincidentallycoincidence, “brillBrill” (do let’s not forget Bulwer-Lytton’s Vril).	Comment by Author: “man on the Earth’s surface”?
   	We gladly renounce to borespare the reader with the details of the alternative story narrative narrated recounted by SarumaSaarumá and the spiritual doctrine of Erks in order to show, point by point, to what the extent they to which they were are obviously a mixture evidentlyconcoction derived based on from the sources that are but that dozen books with a whiff with a whiff of theosophy that Acoglanis had read.
   	Let us return to the thread of the speech in chronological ordery; to clarify that after the consecration of Terrones as the “high altar” of Erks, and after some certain ceremonies with his wife Betty and his lover Marisa, with in which the families Verónon and Allie families (owners of the main hotel of in Capilla del Monte) served as the only witnesses, Acoglanis Acoglanis began to takeing other people there, like thesuch as his friend Rubén Elías Antonio. Initially he formedthis amounted to a small nucleus of confidants and friends, often colleagues and patients of at the Alternative Clinics, who soon became his “disciples” in the esoteric fielddomain. Then our man also began accepted accepting new disciples, generally on the recommendation of these first apostles of histhese early ones. The recruitment was as spontaneous as it was immediateinstant, because andit started atbegan the beginning of the sameearly in 1983, the that year that also saw Saarumá spring from Acoglanis saw the emergence of Saruma in Acoglanis and Erks in from Los Terrones.	Comment by Author: rituals?
   	After almost about two years of “cosmic contacts” and the formation of a afirst secret nucleus of loyal followers, Ángel Cristo Acoglanis thought began thinking about radically expanding and better organizing the group that was forming around him, . and hHe did so by establishing three categories of the “self-called,” as he preferred toliked to define term them: the students, the disciples, and the (ordained) priests (ordained). The latter last of these were initiated underwent initiation in the course of one of the ceremonies held at Los Terrones, and when an initiatic initiatory name was whispered in their ear, a bit like like the disciples of certain Hindu saints, who are with theassigned a personalized mantric sound of each of their disciples. At the same time, he Acoglanis identified the most suitable people to become serve as his teaching assistants in teaching and , whom he began to name labelled “instructors,”, who and who,  atat a certain moment, were numbered no less fewer than 25twenty-five. The principal of these, who also worked as their coordinator of the instructors, was Lino Budiño, possessor who of ahad extensivaest experience as a teacher. Dr. Budiño began to channeling a lengthy long series of writings texts on Erks and other etheric cities: —hundreds and hundreds of pages, —thatwhich AngelÁngel revised and corrected with the idea of   making publishing them as a book or a series of books with them.
   	Meanwhile, the meetings in at which AngelÁngel talked aboutspoke about Erks and other issues were happening becoming ever more frequentat a faster and faster pace. They were held mostly during theon weekends, in histheir house home in on Villa Allende, in at the Hotel Roma in Capilla del Monte, and , in Buenos Aires, generally in the very sameat the Alternative Clinicss, in Buenos Aires. These esoteric rendez-vousrendezvous called up toattracted two hundred people at a time and consisted, essentially, in of speeches madelectures by Acoglanis and in the reading of the essays words channeled by Budiño; . the The questions and the comments of those present ones allowedwere afterwards used to correct later the writings texts inspired by the brothers Brothers of the Space. Readers who are aunaware of the manner in which The Urantia Book was produced will have noticed the extraordinary similarity of the process, with the “doctor” Ángel Cristo Acoglanis which William Samuel Sadler revived.	Comment by Author: unclear – the reference to Sadler is confusing as he has not been mentioned previously – did he imitate Acoglanis’ process?  
   	In parallel, AngelÁngel Christ looked beyond further afield and began contacting spiritual teachers, mystical gurus, and experts in esoteric esotericaexperts. Some well-known names in the Argentina from of the 1980s are insertedthus appear in our historynarrative: the spiritual master “Yaco” Albala (Raúl Jacobo Albala), the Latvian yoga instructor Indra Devi (Eiženija Pētersone), the parapsychologist Pedro Romaniuk, and the Uruguayan ufologist Fabio Zerpa (Pedro Fabio Alles). Some contacts with these this mixed group of esoteristas esotericsof different types were particularly focused: Romaniuk and Zerpa, for example, were writers; —the first one , quite sloppy, and but with a captive audience, the second, most professional and vastly widely known in South America. The two would could eventually serve the objectives Acoglanis’ of Acoglanisends  and the reason for this literary interest is reasons easy to explain: AngelÁngel could barely managed to write an understandable comprehensible paragraph and nothing that could bewas incapable of getting anything published. The healer realized that his poor writings writing were was not an effective instrument medium to for carrying out his mission: the ; its lack of clarity, the lack of  and style andas well as its the very limited diffusion circulation made them insufficient.posed an obstacle.	Comment by Author: to Sadler?	Comment by Author: “were particularly deliberate”. “had a particular agenda”
   Acoglanis needed to reach a wider audience, but without coming out completely in the first personfully revealing his identity: ; the world was not yet prepared to know Saarumá.  On the other hand, AcoglanisAt the same time, he did not want had no intention of letting himselfto be publicly harassed as happened towere other contactists contactees who carried engaged with the publicout public activity, like such as Siragusa, whose trajectory he had followed with attention. Well, tThe best way solution was to publish a series of articles and, even better, some books, without placing your signatureing them. But Acoglanis knew well that he would never be able to write them alonein his own. Then he came up with the idea of   looking for a person who could produce these texts,  onrevealing the reality of Erks without identifying its his source.
   	For Acoglanis tAnhe opportunity came arose when Rubén Antonio introduced him Acoglanis to Guillermo Terrera, born in a 1922 and a native of the city of Córdoba, where he was born in 1922. At that the time, Terrera was a professor of sociology at the University of Buenos Aires, but having reached an advanced age, was palready aboutreparing to retire for having reached the age limit. Acoglanis became interested in Terrera in due to his double qualityual reputation as an esotericist and author of dozens of publications of all kinds. Although very different in regard to terms of social origin background and cultural formation, the Cordovan humanist had some obvious points of contactpoints of  with the Rosario healercontact with the healer from Rosario: an interest in  interest in Uritorco,  and the cult of esotericism, and, more very importantly, the a predilection for authoritarian regimes andauthoritarian politicians, and in particular the adherence towith a particular attraction to Peronism. But their common interests did not stop there. Terrera was obsessed with Tibet and had carefully studied Seven Years in Tibet. He was pPassionate about the theory of the Hollow Earth and, he had read the classic book on the subject by Raymond Bernard about it. He knew was acquainted with the aforementioned Romaniuk, and was a Zerpa’s friend and collaborator of Zerpa. Finally, I he was not definitely unaware of the theosophical authors or those close to Theosophy theosophy who liked to talk about underground cities: Blavatsky, Roerich, Serrano, and Maclellan.	Comment by Author: first name needed here as this is the first time you mention him. 
   	The meeting between Acoglanis and Terrera took place in February 1985. With his usual effrontery, Acoglanis introduced himself as he was accustomed to doingin his customary way, as a Greek doctor, initiated in Tibet, expert in Sanskrit and other Oriental languages, and so on. Terrera was fascinated and invited him to his househome; . There AngelÁngel dedicated some mantras in irdinIrdin, which Terrera recorded live. The The professor also  met paid a visit tothe the Alternative Clinics. A month later, in March, he and his wife Eduviges was were invited by the therapist along with his wife, Eduviges, to the Villa Allende residence and then taken to Los Terrones. There the Terrera spousess saw Ángel  invoke the night lights that Angel invoked, including a great reddish light, reddish one that which hewas identified as Witaykon, and heard strange sounds that seemed to come from the sky. Terrera was convinced of the reality of Erks; , but not of so, however, of the Acoglanis’ explanations and doctrines of Acoglanis.	Comment by Author: recited?
   	But tThe alliance, however, was not destined to last bear fruit. Thus, AngelÁngel and Guillermo frequented themselves during’s relationship lasted approximately a year and a half: in by September of 1986, both already were totally jaded of one anotherhad had enough of each other and they did not return tostopped communicatecommunicating.
   The Cordovan professor waited some time, so that the story of the passage of Acoglanis for his life “cooled off,”, and then he decided to wriote about it. Between 1986 and 1998 Terrera published (first on at his own cost, then in some cases also commercially) almost nearly a dozen books in which he inserted a part some of his experiences in Los Terrones and the information that had been communicated to him by Acoglanis about whichwith which he could agree, along with others some other information of his own personal invention.	Comment by Author: unclear – do you mean that he waited because he wanted to create some distance between himself and Acoglanis and thus be able to describe his experiences more objectively?
   	Months later, during the month ofin January of 1986, for the first time the word “Erks” and the UFOs of Capilla del Monte appeared for the first time in the Argentine media. Dante Franch, a house painter and electrician, had met Terrera in 1984 when he did a job in his house. The professor, whor, who got attracted proselytes especially from among the proletarian classest, took the first earliest opportunity to talk about metaphysics, extraterrestrials and Uritorco.  to Dante Franch, a house painter and electrician, whom he had met in 1984 after hiring him to do some work in his house. Franch was enthusiastic,  and followed for a short time theTerrera’s classes of Terrera for a short time, and soon—and, without losing precious time, in 1985— he saidrevealed that he was had been contacted by the aliens.
	   The next step was to organize an expedition to that would investigate and verify the physical reality of the City of the Blue Flame. The Operation “Erks” was thus launched as ofon January 7th, 1986 and had reached its apex - —if you want towe can believe in the testimony of Franch’s testimony - —with the nocturnal sighting of a large point of light flying, between the hills of the Uritorco and the Pajarillo hills, of a large light in flight.
   	At around the same Contemporaneouslytime, i n a fairly isolated ranch, not far from Capilla del Monte, the elderly Esperanza Pelliza was preparing to go to sleep,bed after having playedying cards with her grandson Gabriel Gomezat in their home on a fairly isolated ranch not far from Capilla del Monte. At around 10 pm, the attention of the two was attracted by a series of strange noises and a strong glow, coming coming from the from outside. Through the window they said they had seensaw a great light, —of which they described as rounded round in shape and of red in color, that —slowly crossed crossing slowly the sky in the direction of the neighboring hill of Pajarillo, just right in front of Uritorco’s the north side of the Uritorco.
   	Returning from his night The job the next morning, Esperanza’s  the son of Esperanza, Manuel Gómez, returning from his night job, saw a huge black spot on the southeast slope of the Pajarillo, in a place of that was not very comfortableparticularly accessible. He notified The the municipal authorities of in Capilla Capilla, whose were warned and so the mayor, Diego Sez, his collaborator Jorge Suárez, and the photographer of the municipality immediately showed up atwent and took photos of the site the place. —An an oval zone area of burned vegetation of remarkable dimensions dimensions (120 m x 70 m) covered in scorched vegetationwas photographed: almost 120 meters by 70.
   	Twenty-four hours later the news was in all over the newspapers of Argentina. Since thenthat time, at least at the level ofin the national public opinion of the nation, the zone of Uritorco zone is has become synonymous with UFO phenomenology. For Terrera, who also visited Capilla del Monte that same summer in the company of Acoglanis, there washarbored no doubt: that the huge red light was had been Witaykon, in passing to  greeting  AngelÁngel and his family in passing , who were on the squareas they were preparing a night ceremony of at the first station at of Los Terrones. starting a night ceremony. In any case, the moment that Acoglanis was had been waiting for was just right around the corner, ; oneyou just simply had to look beyond the borders of Argentina and the Spanish language. The occasion had to do with to the Brazilian Trigueirinho, a singular Brazilian character figure who was making himself known in the Portuguese-speaking countries, in whichwhere he presented himself with only by his his surname only.
   	Thanks to a scholarship, the young José Hipólito Trigueirinho Netto was able between 1953 and 1958 livedto spend time in Rome between 1953 and 1958 , where heand studied study at the Centro Sperimentale di Cinematografia. His career in the film world iscinema was as promising as it is was brief: on returning to his homeland, he was the producerd, author wrote, and director directed of his only one filmmovie, Bahia de Todos os Santos (1960). This The film was receivedjudged positivelypositive reviews, but the artist went intohad a crisis and left Brazil again for Europe once again , into search ofor teachers and teachings that could lead him on a path of towards spiritual growth. This researchHis journey lasted for more thanover a decade and its main result was to adhere turned him to the theosophical doctrines of Blavatsky, Bailey, Steiner, and Brunton, and the infused him with a passion for the teachings of Hindu gurus such as Aurobindo, Vivekananda, and Yogananda.	Comment by Author: needs first name since this is the first time you mention him.
   	Thus, when Trigueirinho returned to Brazil he did so with a completely different profession, that of philosopher, lecturer, author, and spiritual leader. In the early '80s 1980s he founded the Nazaré Vivências Center, a community located in Nazaré Paulista, a small town near the city of San Pablo, from which he left to give lectures and courses.	Comment by Author: Sao Paolo?	Comment by Author: unclear – he gave lectures at the center?  or he left the center to give lectures elsewhere?
   	In October 1987, when Trigueirinho was 58 fifty-eight years old, he and had already written six books (two published, four for meant for publication) and, he was passinged through Buenos Aires to deliverfor a series of public talks. Acoglanis phoned himphoned him up, set an appointment, and paid him a visited him. He introduced himself as Saarumaá, the doorman of Erks, and, as soon as he could verifywas certain that the author was very interested in his story, he gave him his writings and Budiño’s notes, as well as photos taken by himself and by othersthat he and others had shot.	Comment by Author: goalkeeper?  (that’s how you called him before)
   	Trigueirinho, who immediately convinced himself that he was dealing with a special being, , promised to study all the materials and agreed to see meet with him Acoglanis again twice more in Buenos Aires another two times. Then Afterwards,it the Brazilian went to Córdoba three timeswas time to visit Uritorco in the company of Ángel and the Brazilian traveled to Córdoba three times.,  Finally whom he also had to accompanyied Acoglanis to Uruguay to visit “La Aurora” and meet Tonna.
   	In Los Terrones and with under the guidance of Saaruma,á, Trigueirinhothe Brazilian said that he had managed to work undergo a transmutation of his soul that radically changed the course of his life. At the suggestion of Saarumaá’s suggestion, he left the community of Nazaré and founded another one in Figueira, in the southern part of the state of Minas Gerais, where since then he has lived ever since according topracticing the teachings of theosophy, according to the vision of Acoglanis and Trigueirinho .	Comment by Author: confusing “practicing the teachings of theosophy as interpreted by Acoglanis and himself”?
   The twelve months following the his first encounter with Acoglanis were enough for Trigueirinhohim to write no less fewer than five books directly based directly on Ángel's the former’s teachings, on Budiño’s writings, and on his direct own experiences at Los Terrones, although his vast successive production carries the brand of this. Given the immense amount of channeled material delivered to him,It is not necessary to we need not be surprised of so much literaryat Trigueirinho’s productivity. productivity, given the immense amount of channeled material that had been delivered to him. In his works, the BrazilianHe referred to his informant in at least five different ways: —as “Saarumahá,”, “a member of the Alpha and Omega councilCouncil,”, “the Pleiadian", ,” “an extraterrestrial,” and “the adept one,” , but decided never by his actual name, AÁngel Christo by name.	Comment by Author: unclear.  Needs clarification.
   	The inspiration of evoked by his collaboration with Acoglanis marked for Trigueirinho the beginning of a frantic feverishly productive author activityperiod for Trigueirinho: since 1989 the writer gave has handed the press an average of five works per year, and now his catalog now exceeds eighty titles, practically all inspired by theosophy and the Ángel’s doctrines of Angel;. Some of these books were have been translated into English, French, German, and Spanish, with and enjoy a total circulation of about two million copies.
   	Trigueirinho became a friend of the family and spent the entire month of December 1988 at the home of the Acoglanis in Villa Allende, from where which they left forpaid their the nocturnal visits to Uritorco, sometimes in the company of three close collaborators of the Rosario and the Brazilian. . Thanks to Betty’s kindly disposition, The the visits to the hill continued even when Ángel was absent toaway working in Buenos Aires, thanks to Betty's good disposition. But there was something else that was cookingbrewing: a big project that occupied the guru’s thoughts and a good part of his free time. Tired of having to drive his caring every week between Capilla del Monte and Villa Allende every week, Ángel put the house up for sale and acquired several properties in Charbonier, at the foot of Uritorco. The largest of them these—- put on behalf of his wife - —had was 150 hectares and was lay a short distance from the road that climbsascending to Los Terrones, on to the southeast side of the intersection of routes Routes 38 and 17. He named The the property was named “ Iki shamuaika” “(“ chosen place ”“ in irdinIrdin) and as it was strategically placed situated between the main altar represented by the panoramic esplanade from whereat which the contact ceremonies began and the point where Erks became visible: . indeed Indeed, on a map, these all three places could bewere united joinedon a map by a single straight line.	Comment by Author: ?? purchased in the name of his wife?  purchased on behalf of his wife?
   	Between the finala st days of March and the first days of Aprilearly April, Ángel moved to this place location with his family, setting up a spacious and comfortable home, installed  inaugurating a splendid outdoor swimming pool, and building built a large garage. In the meantime, he instructed the his workers to begin work onstart construction on the construction of a guest house and a large tank to for collecting rainwater. Then, having summoneding an architect, he began to planning the rest .... “The rest,” in wasfact, was a pharaonic project: it consisted consisting of a large medical-academic-religious center on at which hundreds of people could converge to try to remedyseek help for their spiritual and corporeal health problemsissues and corporal. Acoglanis-Saarumaá, the supreme sacerdotal and medical authority, would beas to be its the director. He , the highest priestly and medical authority, knowing ew that he could count on Betty-Guatuma and Marisa-Guaruma, , with their four most esoteric instructors, with , some of their colleagues from the Alternative Clinics,s and with an increasing growing number of followers. His optimism also led prompted him to begin to sketch draftaing a book about his therapeutic techniques, which will would remain unfinished and whose the notes for which will would be published by others. [footnoteRef:1]1  [1:      1

 Campos, José María – Domingos Coelho, Geraldo (1996): A medicina resgatada. Uma introdução à praxis vertebralis. San Paulo: Editora Pensamento.] 

   
The decline

In 1989, Rubén Antonio, had together with his brother, decided to support Carlos Saúl Menem- together with his brother - a, a Peronist candidate for the Argentine Presidencypresidency,, who was then the governor of the small and poor province of La Rioja (coincidentally, the homeland of Ramón Verón, the owner of Los Terrones, who had attended the same school): Carlos Saúl Menem. with MenemMenema). Menema was and still is a very particular personagefigure, about whom numerous books stating all sorts of things, both good and bad, were have been written, saying everything about him, for better or for worse. AngelÁngel knew was well aware that Antonio, who had no need to work, increased his wealth through thewas invested in the arms trade. But legal sales were one thing was the legal sale , and illegal traffic quite another illegal traffic, and Ruben Rubén Elíasias had made the jump from one activity to the other with remarkable brazenness. He did not act alone:   he but was with the supported by of political contacts and in clique with Monzer Al Kassar, a Syrian arms dealer (that is, of the same nationality as Antonio’s father), resident in of Spain, and friend of Jorge Antonio. Menema too was also the son of Syrians and, about ten years later, he would bewould be accused of protecting Al Kassar and his trafficstrafficking.
   	Acoglanis did not like to knowing that his friend had was mixed up in such shady deals and let him know it. Their long friendly relationship of friendshipthus suffered a strong shock for this cause, but though it this was only the first of them. For a while, Rubén Antonio was had not been the same as before. He was had becoming become extremely jealous of his wife Marisa, and intimately secretly suspecting suspected the worst: a rival in Ángel of situations: having a secret rival in Angel. Unfortunately, he was not mistaken, since as the complicated relationship between Acoglanis and Mur, which had begun in 1969, had never been completely and definitively interruptedcome to an end, not even after after theher wedding marriage between Mur andto Antonio. The fact is that Rubénen had taken picked up the habit of going passing through the Alternative Clinics unannounced, so as to be able to in order to monitor the situation, interrogate the secretary, see AngelÁngel, and, above all, speak to Marisa, with whomhis relations with whom were quickly deteriorating andthe marriage relationship was quickly leading toheading towards a separation of fact. At first, Acoglanis tolerated this his friend’s behavior, but later he had tobegan reproaching his friendhim: ; it was an unpleasant behavior situation and complicated the comings and goings of the numerous patients at the clinic, making the workwork run more  slowerly.	Comment by Author: observe?
   	He hAcoglanis ad also begun began to tell telling his friends and followers that his time was ending and that he would leave that same year he would leave “for a long, unpostponable trip.” It This was the same phrase uttered he had for used the first timelong before in front of the to little Miguel and Oscar shortly before disappearing from his their lifelives. To the onethose who asked him where he had to gowas going, he would answered with an enigmatic smile; but. As Trigueirinho was insisted insistent, and Acoglanis told him that he would leave for the Himalayas. Most of his interlocutors, however, imagined a departure towards intergalactic destinations, in a ship full of his extraterrestrial friends. In all probability, AÁngel thought, in all probability, of was considering something completely different. But the facts, in the end, as we can shall see, in the end theythe facts absolutely denied everyoneproved everyone wrong.
   	On Friday, April 14, 14th, 1989 Ángel received four ladies women who were had been his patients since 1987. On Saturday, the 15th, he took them to Los Terrones, in what was destined to be his last contact with the beloved “cosmic lights.”. On Ángel spent Sunday, April 16th, Ángel was with Betty to celebrate that he was 34 years old. Then hHe then left for Buenos Aires to start another week of work in at the Alternative Clinics. On Monday the 17th and Tuesday the 18th were stressful days fordue to the number of patients, but and especially for to Rubén Antonio’s the repeated and irritating “surprise” visits of Rubén Antonio. This time Acoglanis lost patience and in a rather obfuscated tone ((what was not his own) told him that if he did not give up this unwelcome attitude “he would uncover the pot,”, in the sense ofmeaning that he would divulging divulge unpleasant things informationthat he wants tothat Antonio wished to keep hidde secretn: an obvious reference to his friend’s trafficking in Syrian arms trafficking.	Comment by Author: do you mean “his [Ángel’s] 34th birthday”?  But wasn’t it his 64th birthday – or was he lying here too?	Comment by Author: do you mean frustrated? Or “in a somewhat disguised voice” (as if speaking in the guise of one of his other personas). OR in “in a somewhat unusual tone for him”. (i.e. in a manner unusual to him)	Comment by Author: “annoying behavior”?
   Antonio was furious and retreated left, slamming the door. The marital crisis and the suspicions that AngelÁngel was the third in discord were already serious problems, but now this threat put placed him in danger in front ofbefore his older brother and the very powerful economic interests invested in this delicate game, which involvedinvolved the most highest levels of national policy, and especially one month after the elections that Menem had to win.	Comment by Author: “was Mur’s lover”?	Comment by Author: should this be “before”. If “after” is correct, then the sentence should read:  “especially one month after the elections that Menem won.”

   At 10:45 on Wednesday, April 19th, in Buenos Aires, ourour protagonist was in his Buenos Aires office and  attended conducting a routine check-up, when the secretary announced the arrival ofthat Rubén Antonio, who was waiting for him in the kitchen. The therapist met him immediately came out to meet him and the two exchanged apparently cordial greetings. Suddenly, the secretary and the patients in the waiting room heard Antonio say saying “I have something for you”, to Acoglanis to Acoglanis, who exclaimed, “No, black, do not do it, please!” And tThen came a series of short but deafening noises . Those present thought of ait was a  domestic household accident, perhaps inossibly the an explosion of some kitchen appliance, in the kitchen, but the truth was different:that proved not to be the case. Antonio, in fact, had killed shot his fraternal close friend with seven shots bullets fired by made with two different weapons, which he had bought purchased that morning. Antonio He slipped away, prey to a great agitation, with his mouth wide open and his eyes crazeddisheveled. At the entrance to the building, He he collided with the doorman, at the door of the building, who had been alarmed by the noise,  and asked him what had happened: . the murderer, whenRunning  passing pastby him, the assassin replied: “There were some shots.” Then hHe then crossed the street and established turned himself in the at nearby police Police station Station 17, confessing immediately: “Do you know what you have to do to the sorcerers? Kill them. I killed a sorcerer and now I feel very relieved. ”“	Comment by Author: what do you mean?
   Meanwhile, the patients left the Clinics clinic in disarray, . while When the secretary entered the kitchen: , AngelÁngel Cristo Acoglanis, 64, lay dead on the floor, immersed in a lake of blood.
   As a result of this the murder, days later the offices closed their doors foreverfor good several days later, the Ángel’s chiropractic students of Angel disappeared, their esoteric group dissolved, and of course of the great building and institutional projects nothing was donenaturally never came to be. Many friends and followers not only did not get closer toavoided the Acoglanis family, but they also broke relations with each other. Meanwhile, the national government was fell once again into the hands of the Peronists: on May 14th, Carlos Menema won the elections, and on July 8th, he became President of the Argentine Nation.
   After almost Nearly three decades of research on his life and work, today have it is clearshown that Acoglanis was a subject that compulsively fabulatedfabulator. He did itlied especially  above all when he talked speaking about his own life, but also when he needed to ingratiate himself with an interlocutor.
   As for those who wrote about him and his ideas, the situation is not  verythat  different: it is evident clear that Terrera grossly deformed distorted AngelÁngel’s statements, and that Trigueirinho  resorted to much fantasy when developed elaborating on what the Argentinian healer had sent him directly with a lot of fantasy what the Argentinean healer was sending him, directly or through what others had a channelingrelated about him indirectly job operated by other people.	Comment by Author: I rewrote this sentence; please make sure that I did not alter the sense
   It is an fact, that after the death of Acoglanis  the majoritymost of those who dealt with the history of Erks and Uritorco limited themselves at most to repeating what they had “heard,”, multiplying and sometimes exaggerating to  the improbablehigh heaven the Acoglanis’ statements that the own Acoglanis formulated, particularly those on about the his first half century of his life. And unfortunately, they did so not only verballyin words, unfortunately.
   This is how a an authenticgenuine Lumpenliteratur came about: an unsettling production due to the irresponsibility of its content and the poverty of its form. Unfortunately, the case study of the “Erks doorman”“ is notwas not  characterized by the contribution of prepared by intellectuals, men of culture, serious researchers, and or professional writers. In this context there are oOnly two academics who dealt, —albeit marginally, —with these facts: the anthropologist Leopoldo Buderacky and the historian Fernando Soto Roland. [footnoteRef:2]2	Comment by Author: dubiousness?	Comment by Author: goalkeeper? [2:      2 Buderacky, Leopoldo M. (2007): El Bastón de Mando del cerro Uritorco (del mito a la antropología). Córdoba: Editorial La Reforma. Buderacky, Leopoldo M. (2008): Bajo el cerro Uritorco: cosmos, lógica y sentido. Córdoba: Editorial La Reforma.   De Filippi, Sebastiano – Soto Roland, Fernando (2019): Los Señores del Uritorco. La verdadera historia de los comechingones. Buenos Aires: Editorial Biblos.] 

   As often happens in environments milieus withclose to ties to a certain type of esotericism and or in a ufology with of a less scientific inclinationstreak, in the subjectso in the case of  Erks, everyone has thinksbelieved, says said, and writes written what he or she has wantswanted to, with absolute freedom. In the age of the Internet and with with the proliferation of author self-published editionswritings, anyone can publishes whatever they want, without any no control or restrictions.
   This absence of filters is, on the one hand is , liberating and positive, but, on the other, exposes  leads the reader (and even more, to the researcher) to months and even years of readings, visions seeing, and hearingauditions of delirious fantastical material s, whichof no  lack the least sustenbstance. Regrettably,More  more than ninety percent of the bibliography consulted by the this author falls, regrettably, infell into this category nefanda: the fingers of a hand are enough to account forthe number of reasonable and reasonably rationally arguedwritten b books on the subject can be counted on one hand.
   As for the visual phenomenon itself with which Acoglanis astonished its his nocturnal guests, everything would indicates that many people without life any  experience on of the hills, without specific preparation of any kind and tendentially devoid of critical sense saw from the way road that ascends to Los Terrones and from its panoramic esplanade a show as suggestive as normal for those who have healthy doses of life experience, knowledge and common sense.	Comment by Author: This is unclear – I cannot edit it without further clarification.
   Let us leaveLet's leave aside, if you will, the strong impression you can makemade by a mountain on a person born and raised in a city who is seeing it possibly for the first time in the middle of the night, a couple of meters from a ravine, amid alternating silence and wind, beneath a dark or starry sky, a person born and raised in a city to be -at a particular perhaps for the first time - on a mountain, in the middle of the night, a couple of meters from a ravine, between silence and wind, under a dark or starry sky, according to the moment. In any case, from the Uritorco fixed and fleeting stars, satellites and space scraps, airplanes and helicopters, meteorological globes spheres and flying lanterns are can be seen with an impressive clarity from Uritorco, where, ; there, to inexperienced eyes, clouds and stars sometimes seem appear to chase each one another.
   There are effects of optical refraction effects of all particular, which are sometimes comparable to o real mirages. Some stars give the impression of suddenly appearing suddenly and disappearing with similar equal speed, or seemappear to have a constantto luminosity glow continuously until thisbut then light begins tobegin flashing, and or vice versa; . This is a natural phenomenon, which occurs is especially likely to occur when a celestial body suddenly becomes visible from behind a hill or a hill.	Comment by Author: “or a mountain”?
   Once it is darkness, if falls, and the Moon is east of the Uritorco - , but still visible to the one someone on the west side of the hill - , it floods the lower valley with a diffuse clarity that may be is a disturbing sight forto those who are unnot usedaccustomed to it. to the. At such times, The the horizon line isis anyway impossible or very difficult to determine, and thus lanterns, camp fires, vehicle headlights, street lights, antennas, houses, towers, and other illuminated structures are cannot easily be located situated in space by the observer: . Itit is thus becomes easy to believe thatconfuse what is found on earth is with what is in the heavens (or or, of course, vice versa, of course).
   In this such a context, there would not even be ais no need to invoke plasma discharges, globular beams, fatuous fires and or similar phenomena, which are also absolutelyequally possible in this particular geographical contextregion.
   The phenomenon of the caused by car lights of the cars, especially those t of those that circulate travel in both either directions on the north-south the nnational route Route 38  (north-south) and east-weston the provincial route Route 17, (west-east), is a problem in itselfquite a case apart. In the distance, the ttwo headlights merge into a single light, with reflections that often extended vertically, and; the very irregular pattern - —both horizontally and vertically - —guarantees the almost constant appearance and almost constant disappearance of these lights, which, from a the distance, they areseem as strange as they are silent. It does not seem to be a coincidence that witnesses who sighted the “cosmic ships” generally sighted have been compared by witnesses, in most cases, justcompared them to stars or car headlights.
   There is no need then to involve a assume fraud with through technological means, although nothing would could prohibit prevent a dishonest person from placing any spectacular light (or today,even a pair of drones, today) in the valley,  to illuminate to light it at night, perhaps in coordination collusion with the an alleged duty guru ;. and in factIndeed, many stories in this senseof this kind circulate among the inhabitants of Capilla del Monte. That The claim that Acoglanis has been awas worker in charge of electrical installations and has himself obtained the electric power for those who lived at the foot of Los Terrones can  reinforces the this ideabelief.
   It will behas been said that AngelÁngel Christ seemed to interact intelligently with the lights on the horizon, ordering them to move or at least verbally anticipating their movements. But even this is not difficult to explain: it’s is enoughenough  to know be familiar with the curves, the ascents and the descents of the two routes to know when and how each light, once seenit becomes visible, will move in relation to the gaze of those present.
   In addition, on the Uritorco there areis also home to some curious little animalsanimals  that can makecapable of playing practical jokes to on those who come with the intention of finding “light beings. of light”. TIn the area abounds the in pyrophoruspyrophores, a bioluminescent coleoptera which that the natives call tucu (a Quechua word that means, just as both much “bright” as and “spirit”). This innocuous volatile flying creature, - whose dimensions can be as large ascan approach halfthose of a human half finger - , is capable of generating so muchenough light for a person to read as to allow reading a book outdoors in the middle of the night.
	On most of the few occasions when Acoglanis indicated it to its followers, The the City of the Blue Flame, on the other hand, in most of the few occasions in which Acoglanis indicated it to its followers, was in all likelihood the set of lights of an edilicia structure located some fifteen kilometers away, looking towards Wwestward. If one looks from north to south while facing west, then one may see—depending on one’s position and the weather conditions—the lights of three inhabited centers From from the panoramic esplanade of Los Terrones and orfrom the path that descends from it to the valley, if you look towards the west - depending on the position of the observer and the weather conditions - from north to south they may be visible, in the distance, the lights of three inhabited centers:. These are Los Sauces (22 kilometers away), Cruz del Eje (31 kilometers), and San Marcos Sierras (17 kilometers). We must mentionAlso necessary to mention - in the immediate neighborhoods - also is Charbonier, which includes the tiny town of Santa Isabel and the small fraction that lies at the foot of Los Terrones, Quebrada de Luna. There are also some very curious strange isolated structures that, when they are sighted seen in the distance in the middle of the night, can may disconcert even the most expert eyes. A case in point is Think of the Penitentiary Unit number Number 10 of Cruz del Eje, which is located on the periphery of the city and whose modern and symmetrical architecture recalls that of an airport. Indeed, located on the periphery of the city, whose modern and symmetrical architecture can be reminiscent of an airport. “Airportairport” is just one of the descriptions words used to describe Erks by the few witnesses who allegedly saw itthat were given by the few witnesses who saw Erks. The prison is in the vicinity of the place,  thatwhich,  the Acoglanis claimed, to hid e the mystical city,  and lies next to the Axis Cross itself, some thirty kilometers away, which may seem like half that distance that in the darkness and without points of reference can seem half.when there are no visible points of reference.	Comment by Author: ??  village? hamlet? 
   The most direct and accurate testimoniestestimony, it is true, speak of Erks as appearing northwest of Los Terrones, but before Cruz del Eje. RegrettablyUnfortunately, San Marcos Sierras just emerges in this territory, and there are also houses and other buildings, located just right before the lake, between the Quilpo River and the Cacique Tulián Avenue, which joins San Marcos Sierras with Los Sauces; . all All these structures that have electric lightinglights, which in the distance are as invisible by day as they are visible at night.  In this regard we But there is more to this; themust say more: the “official history” maintained until today now by the Acoglanis family affirms that Ángel’s property is practically on the straight line that joins - —from east to west -— Los Terrones with the visible center of Erks: “Iki shamuaika” would thus be about six kilometers from Los Terrones and at least eight kilometers from Erks.   	Comment by Author: unclear – do you mean that San Marcos Sierras is right at the edge of this territory?  Or that San Marcos Sierra has been built in the area since Acoglanis’ time?	Comment by Author: do you mean the lights are as visible in the day as they are at night?  Or that because of the electric lights the houses are as visible at night as they are during the day?
   WAnd well, if we following this straight line on the map is justwe come only to San Marcos Sierras ... , which lies eight kilometers, as the crow flies, from the house of the Acoglanis. Visible in the darkness On on the road that ascendsascending to Los Terrones, with the darkness at least are at least the lights of the houses and cars of a part of the east side of the town are visible, which is visibleas can be seen from the clearing by which the San Marcos River runs. Just south of the small town begins its the development ascent to up the south the Alfa hill Alfa, that which serves as a kind of kind of parallel brotherparallel to  of the Uritorco on the other side of the national route; . from From its panoramic esplanade, facing north, some have saw seen—-while facing north by themselves and without the need ofany special invocations made by anyone - —the same illuminated structure that was shownappeared to them while they were descending from Los Terrones.	Comment by Author: the town’s? or from Alfa’s panoramic esplanade?
   With Despite what all that has been said, we have barely scratched the surface of the investigations surrounding of this curious case of ufological contactismcontacts. The author’s repeated expeditions to the places sites of the events finally allowed,  him among other things, to find find, among other things, the precise location of the illuminated structure that during the night Acoglanis had at night identified as Erks, the supposed mystical city that lit flashed its lights in response to the Argentine santón’s songs of the Argentine santón. While waiting for sociologists, anthropologists, historians, and philosophers of religion to study this case as well as the ufological cult that is gestatingsprang from it, we refer those interested to the specific bibliography below. These facts deserve as much attention as other do other similar ones that have already been responsibly addressed with responsibility by academic authorsscholars. [footnoteRef:3]3 [3:      3 Partridge, Christopher, ed. (2003): UFO Religions. London: Routledge.] 
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